THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

Clayton B. McCullough, Esquire, Special Referee

APR 04 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Case No.: 2016-000063

Ex parte: Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance CompanyAppellant

In Re: Anna Angelacci, as guardian of K.B., a minor Respondent

v.

E.U., a minor, Travis Felkel, and Ginger G. UleryDefendants

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CLAWSON & STAUBES, LLC
Samuel R. Clawson (#1268)
Christy R. Fagnoli (#77528)
126 Seven Farms Drive, Suite 200
Charleston, South Carolina 29492-8144
Phone: (843) 577-2026
Fax: (843) 722-2867

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Special Referee err in denying Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company's Rule 24 Motion to Intervene?
2. Did the Special Referee err in denying Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company's Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment?
3. Did the Trial Court and Special Referee err in denying Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company's Motion to Remove the Case from the Special Referee?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a personal injury suit and default judgment wherein the Respondent alleges that minor K.B. was injured during a physical altercation with minor E.U. on or about September 8, 2014. Appellant Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company (hereinafter "Nationwide" or "Appellant") seeks to intervene in this action for the purpose of pursuing a Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgments.

On November 10, 2014 Plaintiff filed a Summons and Complaint with the Berkeley County Court of Common Pleas. (Ex. A, Compl.). On February 4, 2015, Respondent obtained an Entry of Default Against all Defendants and an Order of Referral to a Special Referee. (Ex. B, Entry of Default & Order of Reference). A damages hearing was held on April 21, 2015. (Ex. C, Transcript of Damages Hearing). On April 23, 2015, the Special Referee issued an Order of Default Judgment against Defendants Travis Felkel and Ginger Ulery and a judgment of Five Million One Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$5,150,000.00) was entered against them. (Ex. C, Damages Hearing Transcript; Ex. D, Order of Default Judgment). However, because a

guardian ad litem had not been appointed for E.U. as is required by Rule 55(b)(2), the Special Referee held that a damages award as to E.U. be reserved until such time as a guardian ad litem is appointed and appears. (Ex. C, Damages Hearing Transcript; Ex. D, Order of Default Judgment).

On June 8, 2015, Shannon Jones was appointed as E.U.'s guardian ad litem. (Ex. E, Order Appointing GAL). On June 9, 2015, Respondent filed a Motion for Default Judgment against E.U. and Notice of Hearing, which stated that the damages hearing was to occur on June 25, 2015. (Ex. F, Motion for Default Against E.U.). On June 25, 2015, the Special Referee issued a Form 4 Order as to E.U.'s default, which adopted the findings of fact and conclusions of law set forth in the April 23, 2015 Order of Default. (Ex. G, Order of Default as to E.U.). Pursuant to this Order, the Special Referee held that Felkel, Ulery, and E.U. are jointly and severally responsible for the entire judgment of Five Million One Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$5,150,000.00). (Ex. G, Order of Default as to E.U.).

On July 27, 2015, Respondent, as assignee¹, filed suit against Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company, CP-2015-08-1759. (Ex H, Assignments of Claims; Ex. I, Compl. Against Nationwide). The suit alleges bad faith, amongst other causes of actions, and seeks payment of the \$5,150,000.00 judgment, in addition to other damages. (Ex. I, Compl. Against Nationwide). On or about October 1, 2015, Nationwide filed a Motion to Intervene and Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment. (Ex. J, Nationwide Motion to Intervene; Ex. K, Nationwide Motion to Set Aside Default

¹ On April 24, 2015 (one day after the Order of Default Judgment), Defendants Travis Felkel and Ginger Ulery executed an Assignment of Claims on behalf of themselves and minor Defendant E.U. On June 25, 2015 (the same day as E.U.'s damages hearing and Order of Default), GAL Shannon Jones executed an Assignment of Claims and Springing Covenant Not to Execute on behalf of minor Defendant E.U. (Ex. H, Assignments of Claims).

Judgments). On or about November 4, 2015, Nationwide filed a Motion to Remove the Case from the Special Referee. (Ex. L, Nationwide Motion to Remove from Special Referee). On December 7, 2015, the Special Referee held a hearing on Nationwide's Motions and subsequently denied each of the Motions. (Ex. M, Transcript of Motions Hearing; Ex. N, Judge Dennis E-mail; Ex. O, Order Denying Motion to Remove Special Referee; Ex. P, Order Denying Motion to Intervene and Motion to Set Aside). Nationwide then appealed the Motion to Remove the Case from the Special Referee and filed a Rule 59(e) Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend regarding the Order Denying Nationwide's Motion to Intervene and Motion to Set Aside. (Ex. Q, Notice of Appeal; Ex. R, Nationwide Rule 59(e) Motion). On January 14, 2016, the Special Referee issued an Order Denying Nationwide's Rule 59(e) Motion and Nationwide then appealed the denial of its Motion to Intervene, Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment, and Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend. (Ex. S, Order Denying Rule 59(e) Motion; Ex. T, Notice of Appeal). On February 9, 2016, the Court of Appeals consolidated these appeals.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

This case arises from an alleged physical altercation between minor Respondent K.B. and minor Defendant E.U. that occurred on September 8, 2014. (Ex. A, Compl.). Respondent alleges that, on that date, minor Defendant E.U. physically attacked minor Respondent K.B. while at Goose Creek High School during gym class resulting in a head injury. (Ex. A, Compl.; Ex. U, Incident Reports). Shortly after the incident, in approximately late September or early October 2014, minor Defendant E.U. moved out

of mother and stepfather's house at 339 Holly Avenue, Goose Creek, South Carolina, and moved in with his grandmother. (Ex. C, Transcript of Damages Hearing).

At the time of the alleged incident, Nationwide had in place a policy of homeowner's insurance issued to named insured Travis Felkel regarding property located at 339 Holly Avenue, Goose Creek, South Carolina. (Ex V, Nationwide Policy). The policy provided liability coverage in the amount of One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000.00). (Ex V, Nationwide Policy).

On September 18, 2014, Respondent's counsel sent a letter to Defendants Travis Felkel and Ginger Ulery with a request to contact Respondent's counsel regarding this incident. (Ex. W, Letters to Ulery). On October 23, 2014, Respondent's counsel sent a second letter, with a copy of a proposed Summons and Complaint, to Defendants Travis Felkel and Ginger Ulery again requesting that they contact Respondent's counsel regarding this incident. (Ex. W, Letters to Ulery). Felkel and Ulery did not forward these letters to Nationwide or otherwise notify Nationwide of the incident. (See Ex. X, Aff. of Kennedy).

On November 10, 2014 Respondent filed a Summons and Complaint against Defendants Travis Felkel, Ginger Ulery, and minor E.U., with the Berkeley County Court of Common Pleas. (Ex. A, Compl). The Complaint alleges that minor Defendant E.U.'s actions while at Goose Creek High School resulted in bodily injuries to minor Respondent K.B. (Ex. A, Compl.). The only factual allegation as to Defendants Travis Felkel and Ginger Ulery is that they are the parents or natural guardians of minor Defendant E.U. (Ex. A, Compl.).

Respondent alleges that all Defendants were properly served with the Summons and Complaint on December 2, 2014. (Ex. Y, Affidavits of Service; Ex. I, Compl. Against Nationwide). This is disputed, as discussed below. As discussed more fully below, Defendant Felkel claims that, upon being served, he took a copy of the Summons and Complaint to his local insurance agent, John Herndon sometime "before Christmas." (Ex. C, Transcript of Damages Hearing). Felkel claims he provided a copy to Mr. Herndon and that in response, Mr. Herndon "told me I needed to have [E.U.] get on the phone with the corporate office." (Ex. C, Transcript of Damages Hearing). According to Felkel, Herndon stated that he would hold onto the suit papers until Felkel filed the claim with Nationwide's corporate claims office as instructed to do. (Ex. C, Transcript of Damages Hearing). Felkel admits that he "failed to make that happen" and did not take any further action. (Ex. C, Transcript of Damages Hearing).

On February 4, 2015, Respondent obtained an Entry of Default Against all Defendants and an Order of Referral to a Special Referee. (Ex. B, Entry of Default & Order of Reference). On February 12, 2015, a copy of the Entry of Default was mailed to the Defendants. (Ex. ZZ, 2/12/15 Letter to Defendants). They did not notify or communicate with Nationwide at that time.

On April 11, 2014, Defendants Travis Felkel and Ginger Ulery were allegedly served with notice of a damages hearing. (Ex. BB, Aff. of Service of Notice of Damages Hearing). A damages hearing was held on April 21, 2015. (Ex. C, Transcript of Damages Hearing). Nationwide was not provided with any notice of the Entry of Default or the damages hearing. (Ex. C, Transcript of Damages Hearing; Ex. X, Aff. of Kennedy). Felkel and Ulery attempted to attend the damages hearing, but showed up

late. (Ex. C, Transcript of Damages Hearing). On April 23, 2015, the Special Referee issued an Order of Default Judgment against Defendants Travis Felkel and Ginger Ulery. (Ex. D, Order of Default Judgment). In his Order, the Special Referee noted that Rule 55(b)(2) requires that a guardian ad litem be appointed for a minor before a default judgment is entered against him. (Ex. C, Damages Hearing Transcript; Ex. D, Order of Default Judgment). Thus, the Special Referee held that a damages award as to E.U. be reserved until such time as a guardian ad litem is appointed and appears. (Ex. C, Damages Hearing Transcript; Ex. D, Order of Default Judgment). However, the damages hearing against Defendants Travis Felkel and Ginger Ulery proceeded and a judgment of Five Million One Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$5,150,000.00) was entered against them. (Ex. C, Damages Hearing Transcript; Ex. D, Order of Default Judgment).

During the damages hearing, Defendants Travis Felkel and Ginger Ulery were told repeatedly by both Respondent's counsel and the Special Referee that they needed to communicate with Nationwide and retain counsel. (Ex. C, Transcript of Damages Hearing). The Special Referee was emphatic in his statements to Defendants Travis Felkel and Ginger Ulery that they must contact Nationwide and explain the situation to them. (Ex. C, Transcript of Damages Hearing).

On June 8, 2015, Shannon Jones was appointed as E.U.'s guardian ad litem. (Ex. E, Order Appointing GAL). On June 9, 2015, Respondent filed a Motion for Default Judgment against E.U. and Notice of Hearing, which stated that the damages hearing was to occur on June 25, 2015. (Ex. F, Motion for Default as to E.U). Nationwide was not provided with any notice of this damages hearing. (See Ex. X, Aff. of Kennedy).

Importantly, minor Defendant E.U. was also not provided with proper notice of this hearing, as discussed below. Further, it appears that the guardian ad litem never spoke with E.U. prior to his damages hearing and prior to the time she allowed a substantial judgment to be entered against him without having attempted put up any defense. On June 25, 2015, the Special Referee issued a Form 4 Order, which adopted the findings of fact and conclusions of law set forth in the April 23, 2015 Order of Default. (Ex. G, Order of Default as to E.U.). It is unclear whether a damages hearing as to E.U. actually took place, as the Order regarding E.U. contains no new findings of fact or conclusions of law and there is no transcript of a damages hearing. (Ex. G, Order of Default as to E.U.). In his Order, the Special Referee found that all Defendants are jointly and severally responsible for the entire judgment of Five Million One Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$5,150,000.00). (Ex. G, Order of Default as to E.U.).

On July 27, 2015, a paralegal employed by Yarborough Applegate, LLC called the Nationwide Sales Solution Agency concerning this suit. (Ex. Z, Aff. Of Rash). This was Nationwide's first notice of this action and its first notice of the default judgments. (See Ex. X, Aff. of Kennedy). It should be noted that Respondent's notice to Nationwide was conveniently, or inconveniently, thirty two (32) days after the default judgment was entered against minor Defendant E.U.

On July 27, 2015, Respondent, as assignee, filed suit against Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company, CP-2015-08-1759. (Ex. I, Compl. Against Nationwide). The suit alleges bad faith, amongst other causes of actions, and seeks payment of the \$5,150,000.00 judgment, in addition to other damages. (Ex. I, Compl. Against

Nationwide). This suit alleges that Nationwide is solely responsible for the judgment. (Ex. I, Compl. Against Nationwide).

On or about October 1, 2015, Nationwide filed a Motion to Intervene and Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment. (Ex. J, Nationwide Motion to Intervene; Ex. K, Nationwide Motion to Set Aside). On November 4, 2015, Nationwide filed a Motion to Remove the Case from the Special Referee. (Ex. L, Nationwide Motion to Remove Special Referee). As more fully set forth above, the Special Referee denied all of Nationwide's motions and this appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. THE SPECIAL REFEREE ERRED IN DENYING NATIONWIDE MUTUAL FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY'S MOTION TO INTERVENE.

Nationwide seeks to intervene in this action to file a Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside the Judgments. Under the circumstances of this case, Rule 24 intervention is Nationwide's only avenue to challenge the judgments and there are serious issues with the judgments that should be closely evaluated. See Narruhn v. Alea London Ltd., 404 S.C. 337, 745 S.E.2d 90 (2013); McClurg v. Deaton, 380 S.C. 563, 671 S.E.2d 87 (Ct. App. 2008). Thus, Nationwide should be permitted to intervene in order to file a Rule 60(b) Motion and be given the opportunity to protect its interests.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has recognized that intervention under Rule 24 should be liberally granted. Berkeley Elec. Co-op., Inc. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 302 S.C. 186, 189, 394 S.E.2d 712, 714 (1990). Rule 24 must be liberally interpreted and courts "must consider the pragmatic consequences of a decision to permit or deny intervention and avoid setting up rigid applications of Rule 24(a)(2)." Id. Intervention

may be of right or permissive. SCRCP 24. Intervention of right is governed by Rule 24(a), while permissive intervention is governed by Rule 24(b). Id.

A. Nationwide is Entitled to Intervene as of Right Under Rule 24(a).

Rule 24(a)(2) provides that “[u]pon timely application anyone shall be permitted to intervene in an action: . . . (2) when the applicant claims an interest relating to the property or transaction which is the subject of the action and he is so situated that the disposition of the action may as a practical matter impair or impede his ability to protect that interest, unless the applicant's interest is adequately represented by existing parties.” SCRCP 24(a)(2). Thus, a proposed intervenor must: “(1) establish timely application; (2) assert an interest relating to the property or transaction which is the subject of the action; (3) demonstrate that it is in a position such that without intervention, disposition of the action may impair or impede its ability to protect that interest; and (4) demonstrate that its interest is inadequately represented by other parties.” Berkeley Elec. Co-op., Inc., 302 S.C. at 189, 394 S.E.2d at 714.

Here, Nationwide requests that the Court recognize that, as the party whose real interests are at stake, Nationwide is entitled to intervene as of right to protect its own interests in light of the circumstances and procedural defects involved in this case. The Order of Default Judgment, the assignment of the insureds' purported claims against Nationwide, and the subsequent suit against Nationwide leave no doubt that Nationwide is an interested party in this litigation – and is arguably, the primary interested party in this litigation. Further, these issues make clear that the Defendants' interests in having the judgments set aside pale in comparison to Nationwide's interests. Because of these issues, intervention is the only mechanism

with which Nationwide can attempt to have a court evaluate and rule upon the defective judgments.

1. Nationwide's Motion to Intervene is Timely

Nationwide's Motion to Intervene is timely. Our courts have set forth a four part test to determine the timeliness of such a motion: (1) the time that has passed since the applicant knew or should have known of his or her interest in the suit;² (2) the reason for the delay; (3) the stage to which litigation has progressed; and (4) the prejudice the original parties would suffer from granting intervention and the applicant would suffer from denial. Davis v. Jennings, 304 S.C. 502, 504, 405 S.E.2d 601, 603 (1991) (reversing trial court's denial of newspaper's motion to intervene for the limited purpose of challenging a protective order and rejecting respondents' contention that the motion was untimely).

Nationwide was not provided with any notice of this suit or the judgments until July 27, 2015. Since learning of the judgment, Nationwide has acted with diligence and promptness in investigating the circumstances of the judgments and bringing the subject motion. Nationwide seeks to intervene to bring a Rule 60(b) Motion to attempt to set aside the judgments against its insureds.

The fact that a default judgment has been granted does not impact the court's ability to allow Nationwide to intervene. See Davis v. Jennings, 304 S.C. 502, 405 S.E.2d 601 (1991) ("the fact that a motion to intervene is filed after judgment may prove relevant to the merits of the intervenor's access claim . . . But the applicant need

² The passage of time is not the only factor or the most important factor in deciding whether a motion to intervene is timely. Rather, "the most important consideration...is whether the delay in moving for intervention...will prejudice the existing parties to the case." United States v. Thorson, 219 F.R.D. 623, 628 (W.D. Wis. 2003) (citing People Who Care v. O'Brien, 68 F.3d 172, 176 (7th Cir. 1995)).

not plead extraordinary circumstances to how that the intervention motion itself was timely” (quoting Mokhiber v. Davis, 537 A.2d 1100 (D.C. 1988)). Courts in other jurisdictions have allowed intervention even after judgment had been rendered. See, e.g., Redmond v. Devine, 504 N.E.2d 138, 143 (Ill. App. 1987) (affirming the granting of a motion to intervene filed twenty months after entry of a default judgment because it was necessary to protect the intervenor's rights); Morton Regent Enterprises, Inc. v. Leadtec California, Inc., 74 Cal. App. 3d 842, 846 (Cal. App. 1977) (holding that “[a]n aggrieved person may intervene after judgment for the purposes of vacating a default judgment that is void.”); Western Heritage Ins. Co. v. Superior Court, 199 Cal. App. 4th 1196 (Cal. App. 2d Dist. 2011) (insurance carrier allowed to intervene when insured was in default). Further, The South Carolina Supreme Court has acknowledged that a motion to intervene is a prerequisite for an insurance company to directly challenge an order under Rule 60(b) arising out of a case against its insured. See Narruhn v. Alea London Ltd., 404 S.C. 337, 745 S.E.2d 90 (2013).

Moreover, Respondent will suffer no cognizable prejudice if Nationwide is allowed to intervene. By this Motion, Nationwide does not seek to deprive Respondent of any substantive rights, or to delay the proceedings. All it seeks is to have the issue of whether this case will be decided upon the merits of the facts and law, or instead based upon forfeiture as Respondent urges, resolved on a full record, which cannot be complete without Nationwide’s active participation.

Lack of prejudice in this context has been summarized by a well-known commentator as follows:

Prejudice is not significant unless it is something greater than would be experienced by the ordinary litigant in being required to litigate on the merits. Some delay will necessarily result when a default is reopened, but delay in gaining judgment is not considered by itself, to be undue prejudice that would justify denying relief.

10 JAMES WM MOORE ET AL., MOORE'S FEDERAL PRACTICE § 55.70[2][c] (3d ed. 2010). Thus, allowing Nationwide to intervene will not result in any valid "prejudice" to Respondent, as Nationwide simply seeks to have this case decided on its merits, which is exactly what Respondent intended when suit was initially filed. However, denial of Nationwide's Motion to Intervene unfairly impedes its ability to protect its interests, as discussed in detail below.

2. Nationwide has a Direct and Substantial Interest Relating to this Action.

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