THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Clayton B. McCullough, Esquire, Special Referee

Case No. 2016-000063

RECEIVED

JUN 06 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Anna Angelacci, as guardian of K.B., a minor, Respondent,

v.

E.U., a minor, Travis O. Felkel, and Ginger G. Ulery, Defendants.

Ex parte: Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company, Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

David B. Yarborough, Jr.
Lydia Blessing Applegate
Douglas E. Jennings
YARBOROUGH APPELATE LLC
291 East Bay Street, Floor 2
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
Phone: 843-972-0150
Fax: 843-277-6691

Attorneys for Respondent

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

⁸ Nationwide argues that default should be lifted based on the excusable neglect of Nationwide by arguing that the negligence that caused the default was that of its insured for failure to notify Nationwide of the Complaint in a timely fashion. See Nationwide's Brief at pp. 41-45. Nationwide's argument ignores what has now been admitted by Nationwide's agent John Herndon: Defendant Travis Felkel hand-delivered a copy of the summons and complaint to Nationwide agent John Herndon a week or more prior to the date the Answer was due, thereby, placing Nationwide on notice of the lawsuit in a timely fashion. Herndon Depo., p.29, lines 18-25, p.30, lines 1-7, p. 31- lines 3-10. Given this fact, and the long-established rule that the negligence of the insurance agent is imputed to the insured for purposes of default, this argument does not further Nationwide's cause in any way.

⁹ Nationwide attempted to show "surprise" by arguing that S.C. Code Ann. § 63-5-60 limits recovery against parents of a minor who causes personal injury to \$5,000. The Special Referee found this argument to be without merit, finding the Code section to be applicable to malicious and willful conduct of minors and not negligent acts of minors

Based on this analysis and the properly supported factual findings of the Special Referee, his Order denying set aside under either Rules 60(b)(1) or 55(c) must be affirmed, particularly when his decision denying the motion to set aside default “will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion.” *Richardson.*, 383 S.C. 610 , 682 S.E.2d 263, 265 (citations omitted).

B. Nationwide Is Not Entitled To Relief Under Rule 60(b)(4) Because the Judgment Is Not Void When The Defendants Were Properly Served And Afforded Due Process.

Rule 60(b)(4), SCRPC, allows for relief from a judgment if the judgment is void. “The definition of ‘void’ under the rule only encompasses judgments from courts which failed to provide due process...or lacked subject matter jurisdiction or personal jurisdiction.” *Linda Mc Co. v. Shore*, 390 S.C. 543, 703 S.E.2d 499 (2010). Here, Nationwide argues that the judgment against Minor Defendant E.U. is void for lack of personal jurisdiction, for lack of due process, and pursuant to Rule 54(b). These issues were fully briefed and argued before the Special Referee, and he found each one to be without merit.

1. Minor Defendant E.U. Was Properly Served And The Court Had Personal Jurisdiction Over Him.

After hearing Nationwide’s arguments regarding service, the Special Referee correctly found that “the minor was served on December 2, 2014.” *See* Order of Special Referee, p. 14. Rule 4, SCRPC serves at least two purposes: “It confers personal

and their parents as it relates to the supervision of their children. “The acts of negligence alleged in Paragraphs 9 and 10 against all three defendants are deemed admitted by default and, therefore, are sufficient to sustain these judgments.” *See* Order of Special Referee, at p. 13, fn 5.

jurisdiction on the court and assures the defendant of reasonable notice of the action.”
Fassett v. Evans, 364 S.C 42, 46, 610 S.E.2d 841, 843 (Ct.App. 2005) (citing *Moore v. Simpson*, 322 S.C. 518, 523, 473 S.E.2d 64, 66 (Ct. App. 1996). “Exacting compliance with the rules is not required to effect service of process. Rather, inquiry must be made as to whether the plaintiff has sufficiently complied with the rules such that the court has personal jurisdiction of the defendant and the defendant has notice of the proceedings.”
Id. Further, an officers return of process creates the legal presumption of process that cannot be impeached by the mere denial of service by the defendant. *Id.* (citations omitted); *McClurg v. Deaton*, 380 S.C. 563, 579, 671 S.E.2d 87,96 (2008).

Rule 4(d)(1), SCRCF, provides the method for proper service on individuals.

Upon an individual other than a minor under the age of 14 years or an incompetent person, **by delivering a copy of the summons and complaint to him personally or by leaving copies thereof at his dwelling house or usual place of abode with some person of suitable age and discretion then residing therein**, or by a copy to an agent authorized by appointment or by law to receive service of process.

(emphasis added). **For minors between the ages of 14 and 18, who live with a parent or guardian**, such as defendant minor E.U., Rule 4(d)(2) provides further that **“a copy of the summons and complaint shall likewise be served upon said parent or guardian.”**

(emphasis added).

In this case, the Special Referee found that service was perfected on Defendant Minor E.U. pursuant to both Rule 4(d)(1) and (2) when the summons and complaint was made by personal service on Defendant Travis Felkel on December 2, 2014 at his home, which was also the home of his wife Ginger Ulery and step-son Minor Defendant E.U. *See Order of Special Referee*, at p. 15. Indeed, Nationwide does not dispute that service

was proper on both Travis and Ginger on December 2, 2014. Nationwide also does not dispute that Ginger is the parent and legal guardian of Minor E.U. Accordingly, as E.U.'s parent, Ginger, was "served" with a copy of the summons and complaint when her husband opened the door and accepted the summons and complaint from the process server, the portion of Rule 4(d)(2) that requires that a parent or guardian of a minor between the ages of 14 and 18 be served with a copy of the summons and complaint, is met. Travis Felkel has stated that both his wife and step-son were home when he was served with the Complaint, and he was a person of suitable age and discretion to accept service on his wife's behalf. *See* Affidavit of Felkel. Accordingly, Minor Defendant E.U.'s parent or guardian was served for purposes of Rule 4(d)(2).

Nationwide's only remaining argument regarding service is that Minor Defendant E.U. did not "live" with his parent or guardian at the home where his mother was served. Nationwide's argument is based entirely on the statement of Mrs. Ulery-Felkel at the damages hearing that her son started living with his grandmother following this incident. The damages hearing occurred on April 21, 2015, almost six months after the date of service, and Ms. Ulery-Felkel's statements were less than clear as to dates; she first said that her son moved out in September, then she said October, and Mr. Felkel never said when the minor moved out. Mr. Felkel has now clarified by affidavit that the minor was home when he was served on December 2nd, and that both the minor and his mother looked at the lawsuit that night after Mr. Felkel accepted service of it. Affidavit of Felkel. Moreover, the process server has testified via Affidavit that the minor answered the door at the family home the day before on December 1, 2014. *See* Affidavit of Mike Lamont. Accordingly, contrary to the statements in Nationwide's brief, there is

undisputed evidence in the record is that the minor (1) was present in the home on the date of service and (2) that he received actual notice of the lawsuit on the night it was served on his step-father and mother.

Further, as acknowledged by Nationwide, one's dwelling or place of abode for purposes of Rule 4 is determined by the particularized facts of each case. *Fassett v. Evans*, 364 S.C 42, 610 S.E.2d 841 (Ct.App. 2005). In the *Fasset* case, the defendant claimed he became separated from his wife and had moved out of the marital home shortly before his wife accepted service on his behalf at their marital home. Despite this testimony, the court found that the marital abode remained his usual place of abode for purposes of Rule 4 because of the presumption created when the sherriff's deputy left the complaint with defendant's wife, and the lack of evidence that he had established a new permanent dwelling place or that he had no intention to return to the dwelling home. *Id.* The present case is even weaker than *Fassett*, as there is no testimony from the minor defendant himself saying he no longer resided at his parent's home or to contradict his step-father's Affidavit stating that E.U. was home at the time of service and received actual notice of the lawsuit that night. Affidavit of Felkel. Instead, Nationwide's argument is based entirely on off the cuff testimony at the damages hearing regarding dates, that was not provided by the minor defendant himself, and which has now been clarified by specific testimony in the context of the date of service. This speculation, raised by Nationwide, not the actual defendant who was served, is insufficient to rebut the presumption of proper service. *See Fassett*.

Accordingly, the Special Referee's finding that the minor was served on December 2, 2014 should be affirmed.

2. All Three Defendants Were In Default And Were Afforded The Due Process To Which They Were Entitled As Parties In Default Who Had Not Appeared In The Action

Nationwide argues that the Guardian-ad-litem appointed for minor defendant E.U. failed to comply with the responsibilities for Guardians provided under S.C. Code Ann. § 63-3-380. The Special Referee found, however, that Nationwide's reliance on this Code section is misguided, as this section applies to custody and visitation proceedings in family court. See Special Referee's Order, at p. 17. Section 63-3-810 makes clear that this Article of the Code regulates the appointment of guardians "[i]n a private action before the family court in which custody or visitation of a minor child is an issue." Section 63-3-820 lays out the "Qualifications" for guardians appointed under this Section, and § 63-3-830, upon which Nationwide relies, lists the "Responsibilities" for guardians appointed under this Article. As this action is not pending in Family Court and does not involve the custody or visitation of a minor child, Section 63-3-380 does not apply to this civil suit pending in Circuit Court.¹⁰

A guardian was appointed for minor defendant E.U. in this case pursuant to Rule 55(b)(2), SCRCF, which requires that a guardian ad litem be appointed to represent minors or incompetent persons prior to entry of a default judgment. In this case, Shannon Jones, Esquire, was appointed to act as guardian ad litem for defendant minor E.U. Ms. Jones sent minor made numerous attempts to reach the minor E.U. through his mother and step-father, and actually appeared at the damages hearing on his behalf, which is

¹⁰ The only case cited by Nationwide as applying Section 63-3-830 was a child custody dispute in Family Court. See *Simcox-Adams v. Adams*, 408 S.C. 252, 758 S.E.2d 206 (2014).

what Rule 55(b)(2) requires. Transcript of Motion to Set Aside Default Hearing, at pp. 65-67. Accordingly, the requirements of Rule 55(b)(2) were met in this case. (“no judgment by default shall be entered against a minor or incompetent person unless represented in an action by a guardian ad litem who has appeared herein”).

Nationwide also argues that the judgment against minor defendant E.U. should be set aside because he did not receive proper notice of the damages hearing. This argument, like Nationwide’s argument regarding improper service on E.U., is based on the allegation that E.U. did not live with his parents at the time the notice was provided. Significantly, notice was provided to E.U. through his mother and natural guardian, Ginger Ulery, prior to the damages hearing at his last known address, which was his mother’s home at 339 Holly Drive in Goose Creek, South Carolina. See Letter and Notice to Ginger. Rule 55(b)(2) requires that notice be given to defaulting defendants prior to a hearing on unliquidated damages “by first class mail to the last known address” of the party. The plaintiffs had no address for minor defendant’s grandparents and there is no evidence in the record that he was still living with his grandparents at the time notice of the hearings was mailed to him at this mother’s home. Finally, there is nothing in the record to indicate that the minor defendant E.U. didn’t have actual notice of the damages hearing that occurred on June 25, 2015. As such, the Special Referee found that notice of the damages hearing was provided defendant E.U. in compliance with Rule 55(b)(2) and he should be affirmed.

3. **Rule 54(b), SCRCF, Has No Application To The Judgments In This Case**

Nationwide argues that the default Judgments against Travis Felkel and Ginger Ulery-Felkel and Minor Defendant E.U. are void because they were not all entered on the same day. In support of this argument, Nationwide points to Rule 54(b), but the Special Referee found that Rule 54(b) had no application in this case where the judgments rendered against all three defendants, each of whom was properly in default, are joint and several and equal. Rule 54(b) is intended to prevent “inconsistent judgments,” and there are no inconsistent judgments against the defendants here.

Rule 54(b), SCRCF, states that

any order or other form of decision, however designated, which adjudicates fewer than all the claims or the rights and liabilities of fewer than all the parties shall not terminate the action as to any of the claims or parties, and the order or other form of decision is subject to revision at any time before the entry of judgment adjudicating all the claims and the rights of all the parties.

According to the plain language of Rule 54(b), then, at best, the judgments against Travis Felkel and Ginger Ulery-Felkel, which were filed on April 28, 2015, “did not terminate the action” and were “subject to revision at any time prior to the entry of judgment” against the remaining defendant, minor defendant E.U. on June 25, 2015. While the judgments against Travis and Ginger were arguably subject to revision prior to entry of judgment against their son E.U., consistent, joint and several, judgments against all three defendants in default have now been entered. The purpose of this rule is to prevent “logically inconsistent judgments resulting from an answering defendant’s success on the merits and another defendant’s suffering of a default judgment.” *See*

Nationwide's Memorandum in Support of Motion to Set Aside Default, at p. 17 (citing *Jefferson v. Briner, Inc.*, 461 F.Supp.2d 430, 434-35 (E.D.Va. 2006)(discussing *Frow v. De La Vega*, 82 U.S. 552 (1872))). With all three defendants in default, and a joint and several judgment existing against all three defendants, there are no inconsistent judgments or partial judgments to which Rule 54(b) could apply. Accordingly, Rule 54(b) does not provide a basis for relief from the default judgments in this case, and the Special Referee's Order denying relief on that basis should be affirmed.

III. THE DENIAL OF NATIONWIDE'S MOTION TO REMOVE CASE FROM SPECIAL REFEREE WAS PROPER AND SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.¹¹

The Special Referee's denial of Nationwide's Motion to Remove Case from Special Referee was proper and should be affirmed. The Special Referee denied the Motion on three grounds: (1) Nationwide was not a party and, therefore, had no standing to file the Motion; (2) the Order of Reference appointing the Special Referee states that he is to retain jurisdiction to hear motions to set aside entry of default, default judgment, and any other challenges to the validity of the judgment rendered; and (3) Nationwide failed to cite any caselaw that would support removal. *See* Order Denying Nationwide's Motion to Remove Case from Special Referee.

In its Motion, Nationwide's sole argument was that service was not proper on defendant E.U., and, therefore "the matter was not properly before the Special Referee

¹¹ In its Statement of Issues and Argument Headings, Nationwide indicates that the trial court made a decision with respect to the removal of the Special Referee, but there is no Order from the trial court regarding Nationwide's motion. Even if there were an order, Nationwide failed to appeal that Order in its Notice of Appeal, and, therefore, it is not preserved.

when it was heard.” See Motion to Remove Case From Special Referee and Refer Case Back to Circuit Court Judge, at p.1. As discussed at length in Section II of this Brief as well as in the Special Referee’s Order, however, service on the minor E.U. was proper and occurred on December 2, 2014. Moreover, Nationwide was not a party to this action at the time it filed this motion, and, therefore, had no standing to file a motion to remove the case from the special referee. Finally, Nationwide has cited no caselaw in which a case has been removed from a special referee under similar circumstances,¹² and Rule 53(c), SCRCF, provides as follows

Once referred, the master or special referee shall exercise all power and authority which a circuit judge sitting without a jury would have in a similar matter.

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